
THE NEIGHBOURHOOD
MESSENGER   

NEWSLETTER OF THE ADOLPHUSTOWN-FREDERICKSBURGH HERITAGE SOCIETY 

Issue Number 25                                                                                                                                                   November 2021

Travellers
While the allure of travel may be on the minds of many of us as we contemplate our post-pandemic
lives, the journeys of a “traveller” of the late 1800s and the first few decades of the 1900s held little
allure.  A traveller was a peddler or door-to-door salesman who traversed the countryside selling goods

of all  kinds.   Travellers'   wares were in direct competition to
those obtainable by catalogue and were just  another way in
which rural households depended on home delivery. 

The April 2021 issue of the Neighbourhood Messenger focused
on the role the catalogue played in early home delivery.  In this
issue  we  continue  our  nod  to  catalogue  shopping  with
selections from the 1917 Eaton's Fall & Winter Catalogue.  

A Glimpse of the Past 

Page 1

Our Society
Members of the Adolphustown-
Fredericksburgh Heritage Society have a
common desire to deepen our 
knowledge of the history of our 
community.  In researching and 
capturing aspects of our past, we seek to
preserve, promote, and share our rich 
local heritage.

Our Executive
President: Angela Cronk
Vice President: Frank Abbey
Secretary: Marg MacDermaid
Treasurer: Jane Lovell
Webmaster: Susan Wright
Book Directors: Joan Reynolds 

Elizabeth Vandenberg
Communications
     Director:

Jane Lovell

Our Meetings
The Society meets on the third 
Wednesday of the month 5-8 times a 
year at the South Fredericksburgh Hall 
at 6:30p.m.  Check for the next meeting 
on our website.  All welcome!! 

Our Website
http://www.sfredheritage.on.ca/

Our Facebook Group

Contact Us
If you have questions or suggestions 
regarding any aspect of the Society, 
including The Neighbourhood 
Messenger, please contact :

 Angela Cronk, President (373-8888)
angelacronk@gmail.com

Courtesy of Ida Hudson   

Delivery van and driver for the Napanee franchise of Trent Valley
Bakeries, then in operation with Doyle's Bakery of Kingston, and

making deliveries in South Fredericksburgh.

1964

http://www.sfredheritage.on.ca/Newsletter%20Issue%2024%20Apr%202021.pdf
mailto:angelacronk@gmail.com
http://www.sfredheritage.on.ca/
https://www.facebook.com/groups/381098655578703
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Two Pounds of Coffee     Jane Lovell

Nearly a decade ago a neighbour presented me with a rusty old
coffee can he’d found in the basement of his small cottage on
Young’s Point.   The tattered label  proclaimed “2 POUNDS OF
PURE COFFEE * FAMOUS FOR ITS PURITY STRENGTH AND
FLAVOR”.   I  was  intrigued  to  find  that  the  coffee  had  been
packaged and sold by the Daly Tea Company of Napanee.  The
notion  of  a  local  tea  company  was  fascinating  —  what  I
discovered when I  started digging was an engaging tale of  an
enterprise that operated in the area for over a century under the
stewardship of a single family. This is what I found:

Denis Daly was a cotton manufacturer in Dublin Ireland when the
introduction  of  mechanized  looms  forced  his  business  into
bankruptcy.  In 1840 and 1841 he and his wife and some of their
10 children emigrated to Canada.  The family, including four sons
(Edward, Charles, Denis and George),  first  settled in Kingston,
where Denis Sr.  established himself  in  business.   Some years
later,  the  family  rented  a

farm in Sophiasburgh at Cole’s Wharf on the High Shore Road
where  they  grew  produce  for  the  Kingston  market.   On  the
return  trip  from  market,  they  transported  groceries  and  dry
goods, including teas, to sell to neighbouring farmers and others
in the surrounding community.   Eventually  they narrowed the
focus of  their  business exclusively to the importing,  blending,
and distribution of teas, establishing the  Daly Tea Company in
1854.  

Green tea from Ceylon and several varieties of black tea from
India were imported via Montreal,  arriving in Napanee in 40-,
60-,  and 576-pound cartons.   The teas  were blended to  suit
water found in various neighbourhoods and were sold locally in
¼, ½, and 1 pound packages.  Thirty-pound cartons could be
purchased at local grocers.  At some time in the 1900s or 1910s,
imported Chase and Sanborn coffee was offered alongside their
tea blends.  While the  Daly Tea Company also packaged and
sold its own brand of coffee, the time frame and duration of the
sale of house brand coffee is unclear.

Denis Sr. died in 1855.  By 1871 sons Edward and Denis Daly had established an importing business
in Napanee.  The census of  that  year lists brothers Edward,  Denis,  and Charles as “farmers and
traders”,  suggesting that they continued to farm while engaged in “importing”.   From 1889-1895, E.
Daly and Company Teas also appears in local business directories.  
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The Neighbourhood Messenger is an electronic newsletter distributed to members of the
Adolphustown-Fredericksburgh Heritage Society.  

Membership to the Society is free.  In addition to ensured e-mail delivery of the newsletter, Society
membership entitles those interested in our local heritage to be kept informed of, and participate in, all

aspects of Society activities.

Anyone can become a member by clicking HERE.

If you are not currently an AFHS member, please consider becoming one!

https://us9.list-manage.com/subscribe?u=4bd90d1a6c4e1df18be464aea&id=83a8cbf8e4
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The London Operation:   Around 1890 Edward Daly moved to London,
Ontario, where he continued to run  E. Daly and Company Teas.  The
company was renamed The F. Daley Tea Company when Edward's son
Frederick took over the operation, and coexisted for a time with  Daly
Grange Teas, formed when Frederick went into business with George
Grange.  Daly Grange Teas  operated in London until it finally passed
out of the family’s control in 1967.  The business continued under a
series of mergers and acquisitions until it was ultimately absorbed into
Nestlé Canada in 1984.

The Napanee Operation:  Brother Denis remained in Napanee and by
1897,  only  Denis  Daly  Teas is  listed  in  the  business  directories  for
Napanee.  Denis Daly Teas continued to be listed until  1906.  From
1908,  the  company  was  known  as  the Daly  Tea  Company, and
continued under Denis Daly until his death in 1915.

During Denis’ tenure at the helm, the sons of his brother George were
taken  into  the  business,  and  the  company  was  later  purchased  by
brothers Herbert, William Arthur, and John Geale Daly. 

At the time of his death in 1943, William Arthur was president of the
Daly Tea Company.   His brother Herbert’s son George subsequently
served as president, followed by George’s son William, who was to be
the last president of the company.  It is unclear whether George’s elder
son  Morris  also  served  as  president,  but  he  was  involved  in  some
capacity with the company, being listed as “tea merchant” at the time of
his marriage at 21 in 1924.

Competition from mass-marketed pre-packaged standardized tea blends, coupled with the economic
trials of the Depression and the disruption in shipping during the Second World War, conspired over
time to reduce profitability of the family business.  The Daly Tea Company of Napanee ceased to exist
in 1961. 

The Western Operation:   With offices and warehouses in both Napanee and London in the 1890s,
Denis  and  Edward  Daly  had  firmly  established  their  tea  business  in  southern  Ontario.  The  1934
Toronto Directory lists an office in Toronto, and in the 1930s, 1940s, and 1950s newspapers from such
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Durham Review 
  December 16, 1920 

Photos: L&A County Muesum & Archives 

Daly Tea Company Office, Napanee (N-00707) & Daly Tea Company wagon on Dundas St., Napanee (N-00708)

1921  
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places as Bowmanville, Barrie, Alexandria (north of Cornwall), Orono, Colborne, Arnprior, Stouffville,
Kingston, Brooklin (north of Oshawa), and Porcupine (east of Timmins), had mention of Daly Tea.  By
as early as 1909, though, it is evident that the reach of Daly Tea had extended west into the prairie
provinces.  While managers were dispatched from the Napanee and London operations to Brandon,
Manitoba, Saskatoon, and Edmonton, it  is  unclear if  offices were established there or whether the

business was simply distribution.   It is also unclear
how long  the Daly  Tea  Company had  a  presence
west of Ontario, but likely at least into the 1930s.

While no references to Daly Tea have been found for
British  Columbia  or  provinces  east  of  Ontario,  the
1943 obituary for William Arthur Daly appearing in a
local paper stated that the Daly Tea Company “has
become  one  of  the  best  known  importers  and
distributors of tea in Canada, with business activities
extending throughout the western provinces, Ontario
and Quebec.”

The Travellers:  The Daly Tea business model relied heavily on salesmen peddling tea and coffee to
rural residents.  

From 1904 to 1912, William Arthur Daly, who later became president of the Daly Tea Company, is listed
as “traveller”  in  his  children’s  baptismal  records,  suggesting  that  the  company continued to make
rounds through Lennox & Addington county.  

In 1909 the Salada Tea Company targeted the tea peddlers with the following advertisement in the
Perth Courier:

The finest leaves of Ceylon tea plantations…
Packed in lead packets

To preserve the delicious flavour and aroma.
Sold only by grocers

Never by peddlers or in bulk.
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Napanee Beaver 
  June 11, 1920

Porcupine Advance, Timins 
  March 27, 1927 

Daily British Whig 
  March 3, 1913 

Glengarry News 
  August 22, 1941 
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Despite the negative image competitors tried to paint of peddlers, those who sold wares door-to-door 
were much anticipated visitors.  Local newspapers listed when the “agents” would be or had been in 
the neighbourhood.

The coming of the “Daly Tea Man” obviously left an impression, and very close to home too.  

In Voices Volume  2, Judy Smith recalls: 

We had other salesmen who came door-to-door as well—the tea man, the butcher, the
grocery man, the bread man, Watkins and the Fuller Brush man.

In Remembering the Christian Neigbourhood  The Old Order Changeth. 1969:  Marion Hough wrote: 

A similar service was given by a butcher on weekly trips and Daly's Tea from Napanee
about once a year.

From the Amherst Island Beacon: April 16, 1970 - Volume 1 Issue 1 

The writer of the letter [Mr. N.A. (Bus) Daly of Vancouver, B.C.] will be remembered
by many older Islanders, who recall the more prosperous days of “The Daly Tea Co. of
Napanee,” when this company was known throughout Ontario as one of the largest tea
importing and blending firms then in existence. Their outlets and sales of tea were
handled principally by “peddling” from door to door, as well as wholesaling to retail
businesses.  Horses and wagons were used in earlier times but with the advent of the
automobile the change was made to trucks.  It is in connection with the transportation
of  their  first  truck  to  the  Island  that  Mr.  Daly  recalls  the  experience  that  they
encountered. Before the advent of ferry service to and from Amherst Island, if you
owned other  than a  car  upon which the top could be lowered and the windshield
removed or turned down it was necessary to transport such vehicle via the “lighter,” a
flat scow owned by the late John Tugwell and towed by a motor launch. (Cars, which
could  have  the  top  lowered  etc.,  were  able  to  be  accommodated  on  the  Steamer
Brockville, a passenger boat plying the “Bay Route”, making calls at Emerald, Bath
and Stella.  The necessity of lowering the top etc. was to allow the vehicle to enter the
low narrow gangway,  intended for only passengers and freight trucks.) The above
mentioned lighter was flat bottom, reputedly hard to tow and susceptible to upsets
particularly  when  loaded  with  a  shifting  cargo  such  as  pigs  or  cattle,  for  which
purpose Mr. Tugwell had it constructed.   The particular experience recounted by Mr.
Daly was in 1924, when they loaded the Daly truck, heavily laden with tea, on the
lighter at Millhaven, a storm was coming up when they set out with the tow being
made by the late Hugh Glenn (Les and Stirling’s father) with his launch the “Ethel”, in
order to beat the storm the motor was operating “full speed” and when over a mile
from Stella, a connecting rod went through the block of the engine and lighter and
launch drifted down the channel toward the foot of the Island.  Fortunately the plight
was spotted by Vere Howard, who came to the rescue with his motor launch and towed
them safely to shore, just as the storm broke.  
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Daily British Whig 
  April 24, 1913 

Daily British Whig 
 February 17, 1926 

http://www.sfredheritage.on.ca/Remembering.htm
http://www.sfredheritage.on.ca/VoicesVol2.htm
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And from further afield:

From Anecdotes and Updates Virden Centennial 1982  (Virden is west of Brandon Manitoba):

The Daly Tea man used to drive around the Countryside with a team of mules
and a wagon and sell tea door to door.  It came in boxes lined with lead to keep
the tea fresh and was sold in 20- and 25-pound caddies.  Sometimes, I believe, it
was even sold in 30-pound boxes.  My father always bought 30 pounds of black
tea and one pound of green tea when the Daly man came around.  Coffee was
rare in those days.  Everyone drank tea. 

From The Chronicles of Crandall, 1971:

Edna Laura (Warren) Frame was born in 1895 in Plamerston District, north of 
Verden Manitoba.  She recalls: 

The Daly Tea Company of, I think Oshawa, Ontario, had a wagon on the road
which sold us our year's supply of tea. If Mr. Daly accompanied the wagon, he
usually spent the night with us and we listened all ears to our elders' tales of
Ontario, which seemed to us must be the Garden of Eden. 

From the 2009 Spring Edition of the Goulbourn News  of the Goulbourn Township Historical Society.  
(Gouldbourne is near Ottawa)   Transcription of an interview conducted July & August 2008: 

We never drank coffee until about the time of World War II.  It was all tea and
you did not buy it at the store.  There was a company out of Montreal called the
Daly Tea Company.  The tea salesman, Mr. Errott, came around once a year and
took orders from all the farmers for the next year.  It came in a wooden box
called a tea chest, with metal bands around it.  That was the source of our tea.
We had a dark room upstairs and it would be stored up there.  It would all be
loose tea.  There were some of those old tea boxes around for years.  It was
natural wood and black script printing. 

Few now remember the role the Daly Tea Company played in the lives of rural residents and of those
who worked for the company.   The once prominent Canada-wide business endured for over a hundred
years under the guidance of four generations of the Daly family.  The influence of the both the family
and the company can be seen today in the Daly Cup, donated in 1909 by Herbert Daly and presented
annually at the Napanee Golf Course, and in the company office and warehouse, now known as The
Daly Tea Company Building, at the corner of Dundas and East Streets in Napanee.
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Glengarry News
June 30, 1944

Daily British Whig
September 18, 1918
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Then and Now      Steve Medd

49 Graham St. East, Napanee

Part Lot 3, North Side Graham St.
 Napanee Town Plot

I’ve been trying to unravel the mystery behind
my house after recently discovering old hand-
me-down photos of it. Here’s what I know. 

The  Daly  family  of  Napanee  were  Irish
immigrants  to  Canada  in  the  1840s  who
became  tea  wholesaler  merchants  selling
blended  black  and  green  teas  from  India,
Ceylon and Japan.  In 1871 two sons Edward
and Denis Jr.  opened the Daly Tea Company
importing  business  in  Napanee.  Their  offices
were  located  at  the  corner  of  John  St.  and
Market Square. 

In 1877 Edward bought the Victorian house at
the corner of John St. and Graham St. East on
a  property  where  he  would  build  a  large  tea
storage  and  blending  warehouse  barn  and
stable. Tea was shipped to Napanee by rail two
blocks away at the end of John St. Horse-drawn
wagons would haul the tea packages into the
barn  where  it  would  be  blended  and
repackaged for  distribution around the region.
The barn appears to have been used for  this
purpose until  1921 when the company moved
its offices and warehouse to larger premises on
Dundas St. East. 

In  1953  my  grandfather,  Bruce  Medd,
bought  the  barn  to  turn  into  an  upstairs-
downstairs  duplex.  It  remained  a  duplex
until my wife Kathy and I bought it in 2005
to turn into a single family home, the year
my grandfather passed away.

Nothing is now visible to indicate the house
was once a tea blending shed.
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AFHS Photo
Late 1910s

Photo: Steve Medd
2021

Photo: Bruce & Carrie  Medd

circa 1952

Photo: Bruce & Carrie  Medd

circa 1952



AFHS The Neighbourhood Messenger November 2021

And More Then and Now      Jane Lovell

This is the second time that Then and Now has featured a property in Napanee.   The Wales Block on
Dundas at Adelphi appearing in the  April  2017 issue of the  Neighbourhood Messenger housed the
Russell Bros. Grocery, run by the Russell family from South Fredericksburgh, and much frequented by
the rural residents south of town.

The connection  between 49 Graham St.  East  and our  townships is  more tenuous.    It  is  the  old
blending barn that provides the tie, through the Daly Tea Company and through the Daly family itself.
Of course Daly tea and coffee found its way into the pantries of many homes in Adolphustown and
Fredericksburgh, including that two pound tin of coffee found on Young's Point.   Some of the tea and
coffee was likely purchased in town, but much of it was delivered by the travelling salesmen of the Daly
Tea Company.    Social  and recreational pursuits brought various members of  the Daly family and
principals of the Daly Tea Company to Camp Le Nid near Adolphustown and to Glen Island during the
first few decades of the 1900s.  

And so back to the tea blending barn and warehouse:  The old barn is one thing, the lot on which it
stood is another.

What is now 49 Graham St.  East is the south half of  Lot 3, north side of Graham St. East in the
Napanee Town Plot.  

The town of Napanee stands on land originally granted to Richard Cartwright in 1805.   In 1831, parts
of Lots 22 & 23 in the first Concession of Richmond Township were set out as town lots, a quarter and
a fifth of an acre each in size.   The quarter-acre lots ran north of Dundas and extended only as far as
the south side of Thomas.  By the time the 1860 Walling's map had been produced, the town lots had
been extended north one more street to the south side of Graham.   It wasn't until 1873 that the town
plot was officially extended north to the railway tracks at Elizabeth, including Lot 3 on the north side of
Graham.
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    Lots north of Bridge Street between Robert and Adelphi Streets      &      Detail of Lot 3 North Side of Graham Street,
   East of John Street                      

Meacham's 1878 Illustrated Historical Atlas of the counties of Frontenac, Lennox and Addington

http://www.sfredheritage.on.ca/Newsletter%20Issue%2016%20April%202017.pdf
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While not yet part of the official town plan, the south half of Lot 3 makes its appearance in 1869 when it
was sold by the Cartwright family to Thomas Samuel Carman, the proprietor and editor of the Napanee
Weekly Express.  A year earlier Carman had bought the adjacent lot on the corner of John and Graham
Streets.  It is unclear when Carman built the red brick Victorian house now gracing 225 John Street, but
by 1877 the house and the amalgamated lots along John and Graham Streets were sold to Edward
Daly.

The 1874 Bird's Eye View of Napanee clearly shows the house at the corner of John and Graham (top
left, above).  Interestingly there also appears to be a building on Lot 3.  However, the building depicted
on the map has the opposite orientation from the Daly Tea blending barn, so was likely an earlier
structure.

Despite moving to London around 1890 to run the E. Daly Tea Company there, Edward Daly retained
the Napanee lots he bought from Carman in 1877.  In 1914 John Geale Daly (Edward's nephew and an
owner, along with his brothers, of the  Daly Tea Company of Napanee) bought the house just to the
north on John Street and the north half of Lot 3.   This had the effect of creating a compound on Lot 3,
owned by two branches of the Daly family, on which the storage and blending of tea was conducted.   

On  Edward's  death,  ownership  of  his  lots  passed  to  his  daughter  and  then  on  to  two  of  his
granddaughters.  It was the last of these granddaughters who severed Lot 3 from the house on John
Street and sold it to Bruce Medd in 1953.   

The entanglement of the Daly family in Lot 3 was not yet over, however.   Several adjustments to the
property lines followed, including an agreement for access to a well on the the Medd property. The
agreement was revoked in 1966, on the death of the last Daly to own the John Street house, Edward's
great-granddaughter, ending an 89-year, four-generation interest of the Daly family in Lot 3.

It is unknown when the building used as the blending barn for the Daly Tea Company was built on Lot
3.  The structure on the site in the 1874 map is clearly not the same building captured in the 1952
photo of the barn.  By 1917 a two-storey wooden building with a 1½-storey addition to the rear was one
of three outbuildings on the property.   This can be seen on the 1917 Fire Insurance Map for Napanee,
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which shows both north and south halves of Lot 3 as part of a single property associated with the
house on the corner of John and Graham Streets. The interesting thing about this map is the patch that
has been applied over the barn and other outbuildings at the bottom right of the detail below. The base
map was produced in 1904 and updated, as required, by applying patches showing changed features.
The fact that the barn is only partially patched indicates that it was on the property in 1904.    By the
time the 1931 Fire Insurance Map was produced, only the south half of Lot 3 is shown as part of lot on
the corner of John and Graham. 

For a period of  time,  Edward Daly owned all  the property along the north side of  Graham Street
between John and East Streets.  In 1881, he purchased the lot on the corner of East and Graham
Streets.  It is possible that this was when the barn was built on Lot 3, perhaps with other outbuildings
on Lot 3 and the East Street lot.  

The lot on the corner of East and Graham Streets was sold by Edward's executors in 1910.  In April of
that year it was announced in the Daily British Whig that The Daly Tea Company, originally occupying
premises  at  John  Street  and  Market  Square,  was  moving  to  a  store  on  Dundas  Street.   This  is
corroborated by the 1917  Fire Insurance Map that  marks the building at  68 Dundas as being the
warehouse of the Daly Tea Company.  In 1921 the Daly Tea Company bought the building.

It appears that the barn on Lot 3 on Graham Street continued to be used by Daly Teas after the office
and warehouse were moved to Dundas Street.  Anecdotal evidence has both coffee and black pepper
being sold out of the barn into the 1950s.

So, it is still a bit of a mystery as to the true beginnings of the Medd's home.  While indisputably it was
originally the blending barn for the Daly Tea Company, the date it was built is still unknown.  It can be
said with certainty, however, that the barn was put up sometime between 1874 and 1904, and most
likely in the 1880s.   
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           Source: L&A County Museum & Archives  

Details from the 1917 and 1931 Fire Insurance Maps for Napanee

L&A County Museum & Archives

Rare sign advertising Daly Tea to drink,
rather than to purchase as tea leaves for

home consumption
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Clippings   
The  Clippings column is dedicated once again to the 1917  Eaton's Catalogue,  this time the Fall &
Winter  issue.   Published three years  into the First  World  War,  the  1917  Spring & Summer issue
catalogue acknowledged the war with little more than restrictions on firearm acquisition.  It is surprising,

then,  to  see just  a  few months  later,  such  a  rapid  growth of  patriotic
influences in goods on offer.   There was also a new push to promote
Canadian-made articles,  many of  which were manufactured in  Eaton's
factories.

The  patriotic  symbol  most
commonly  chosen  was  the
flag which appears twice on
the  promotion  of  Canadian
made  goods,  to  the  right.
This  flag  is  the  Canadian
Red  Ensign,  a  naval  flag
and the one troops carried
into battle during World War
One.   It was not, however,
Canada's  national flag. The
Royal Union Flag (the Union
Jack)  remained  the  official

flag of Canada until it was replaced
in  1965  by  Maple  Leaf  flag  we  fly
today.   During the First World War,
the  Red  Ensign  bore  the  heraldic
arms  of  Canada's  founding
provinces — Ontario, Quebec, New
Brunswick,  and  Nova  Scotia.   The
design  was  not  standard,  however,
and  other  flourishes,  such  as
wreaths,  were often added,  as can
be  seen  in  some  of  the  following
clippings.   

In addition to the same wide range
of  goods available  in  the  Spring &
Summer catalogue  to  supply  the
entire household and farm, the  Fall
& Winter issue came with the added
allure of  Christmas toys and winter
sporting equipment.
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Early Schools in the Area, Part 4 - The School Fair
                       Susan Wright

The school fair pamphlets included in this article were collected by Mary Loyst-Magee (1918-1989),
and donated to the AFHS by Linda Tibbutt.  Mary attended S.S. #4 South Fredericksburgh, Parma, and
took an active part in the school fairs.
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Photo: AFHS
S.S. # 4 South Fredericksburgh - Parma School circa 1925

Mary Loyst is second from left in the middle row.

Back: Vera White, Grace Loyst, Ellen Gallagher, Edith Fitchett, Margaret Keyes (teacher),
Verna Arnold, Meeda Arnold, Edith Box, Ruby Brooks

Middle: Billy Ruttan, Mary Loyst, Freda Brooks, Ruth Campbell, Irene Ruttan, Clara
McCormick, Mildred Loyst, Victor Brooks

Front:  Wallace Ruttan, Merton Powell, Wilkie Bruce, Gordon Campbell, Durwood Garrison,
Hugh Bruce, Ted Fitchett, Don Bruce, Arthur Loyst, Harold Loyst

Daily British Whig  December 10, 1913

  One of the most promising features of school life in Canada is the school fair which has
recently achieved such popularity.

  From  early  spring,  when  the  children  receive  material  from  the  Department  of
Agriculture for planting, until the product is exhibited at the school fair in the fall and the
competition for prizes is over, the race is on. Desire for a prize stimulates active interest.
The boy watches his plot. He reads all he can about his particular crop. He compares his
potatoes  or  whatever  it  may be,  with the  main  crop on the  farm.  He  questions  dad.
Everybody on the farm becomes more or less enthused and when the time for awarding
the prizes arrives all come to see what the young people have been doing.

  Pupils of the schools taking part in a school fair, besides growing such crops as potatoes,
corn, mangels, grain and plants of various kinds to exhibit, they also compete at fair with
essays, collections of weed, weed seeds, insects, etc., and specimens of their cooking and
serving. They become interested in all things pertaining to the farm.  
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Some clippings about School Fairs in the area.  Each community would hold a fair in the fall for schools
in the area.  South Fredericksburgh and south Adolphustown combined efforts, with the fair normally
being held at Sillsville.  The entire community would come out to attend the festivities. Local women's
groups would assist with set-up, lunches and prizes.
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Daily British Whig
  April 12, 1912

Daily British Whig
  October 18, 1912

Daily British Whig
  October 3, 1914

Daily British Whig
  July 10, 1916 Daily British Whig

  September 21, 1918
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Daily British Whig
  August 5, 1924 Daily British Whig

  September 17, 1930

Photo: AFHS

School Fair at the old South Fredericksburgh Township Hall

Undated Photo
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The 1928 Sillsville School Fair
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Pamphlets for the South Fredericksburgh-Adolphustown School Fairs at Sillsville

Note that the 'Directors' are school students, and individual schools would form a 'committee' to take charge of the various
categories.
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Sillsville School Fair Results for 1928
(from the Napanee Beaver October 31, 1928)

    A few notes on the various categories:
    Mangels - A large, coarse yellow/reddish-orange beet, grown mainly for livestock feed.
    Salpiglossis - An annual flower, also known as 'velvet flower' or 'painted tongue.'
    Strathcona Exercises  - A series of exercises similar to a military drill.
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Grain & Corn
Oats, 1 quart - Betty Heathcote
Oats, sheaf - Betty Heathcote
Wheat, 1 quart - Donald Hough
Wheat, sheaf - Donald Hough, Arthur Whitfield, Stanley --
Field Corn - Ruby Brooks, Clarence Parks, Everett Hawley
Sweet Corn - Daly Baldwin, Joe Reid, Josephine Quaiff, Jeane Hogeboom, 
Edna Cranston, Elaine Horne

Roots & Vegetables
Potatoes, Irish Cobbler - Jean White, Edna Galt, George Day, Evan Brooks, 
Willie Tibbutt
Potatoes, Dooley - Victor Brooks, Clara Brown, Dorothy Sills, Fred Punchard, 
Betty Heathcote, Borden Young
Turnips - Eleanor Reid, Harold Laveck, Everett Hawley, Annie Shelley, Lillian 
Graham
Mangels - Dave Reid, Betty Heathcote
Beets - Thora Tuckett, Harriet Head, Eleanor Parks, Hazel Walker, Helen 
Storey, Florence Morrow
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Carrots - Irene Ruttan, Mary Loyst, Clara McCormick, Peggy Heathcote, 
George Day, Mary Gallagher
Onions - Harold Laveck, Arthur Whitfield, Margaret Wright, Florence Tibbutt, 
Emily Roberts, Kathleen Lloyd
Parsnips - Clarence Parks, B. White, Betty Heathcote, Billie Ruttan

Flowers
Asters - Sydney Strawbridge, Peggy Heathcote, Josephine Cousins, Nellie 
Gallagher, Kathleen Lloyd, Winnie Fretts
Sweet Peas - Eleanor Reid, Aleta Walker, Gladys Lloyd, Elaine Horne
Phlox - Laura Sills, Peggy Ham, Albert Lloyd, Harriet Head, Bobby White, 
Arthur Whitfield
Zinnia - Dora Gallagher, Cissy Lewis, Chas. Wellington, Irene Wellington
Cosmos - Clarence Reid, Peggy Heathcote, Helen Laveck, Evelyn Ackerman, 
Fred Punchard
African Marigold - Geneva Wartman, Marjorie Brooks, Florence Walker, 
Genevieve Tibbutt, Birdie Rombough
Verbena - Betty Heathcote, J. Quaiff, Patricia Sills
Calendula - Borden Young, H. Walker, Evelyn Reid, Kate Laveck
Salpiglossis - Wallace Hogeboom, Dorothy Sills, Mary Loyst, Harvey Lloyd
French Marigold - Edna Cranston, Gladys Kilgannon, Marion Baldwin, Ada 
Bruce, Margaret Wright, Florence Morrow
Gladiolus - Jean Craven, Edna Cranston, Evan Brooks

Fruit
Apples, Wealthy - George Day, Winnie Fretts, Ralph Fretts, E. Galt, Mary 
Loyst
Apples, Talman Sweet - Gladys Kilgannon, Georgina Day, Mary Loyst, Peggy 
Ham
Apples, Spy - Geneva Wartman, Mary Loyst, Evelyn Roblin, Peggy Ham
Collection of Apples - Bruce Cuthill, Mary Loyst, Gladys Kilgannon, Ruth 
Campbell, Elaine Horne

Livestock
Calf, Beef Type - Borden Young
Calf, Dairy Type - Edna Cranston, Dave Reid, Leslie Mellow
Spring Lamb - Willie Tibbutt, Borden Young, Genevieve Tibbutt

Poultry
Barred Rock Cockerel - Borden Young, Jeane Hogeboom, Edna Cranston
Barred Rock Pullet - Borden Young, Edna Cranston, Jeane Hogeboom, Mary 
Loyst
Pen of Barred Rocks - Jeane Hogeboom, Mary Loyst, Leslie Mellow, Edna 
Cranston, Borden Young

Collections
Collection of Weeds - Hazel Walker, Edna Cranston, Florence Morrow, Lillian 
Graham, George Day, Dora Gallagher
Collection of Weed Seeds - Jeane Hogeboom, Lillian Graham
Collection of Hay and Pasture Crops - Dora Gallagher, Dave Reid

Manual Training
Bird House - George Day, Arthur Whitfield, Wallace Hogeboom
Grit Hopper for Hens - George Day
Wooden Mallet - George Day



AFHS The Neighbourhood Messenger November 2021

Page 21

Cooking
Bran Muffins - Evelyn Roblin, Ruth Hudson, Peggy Heathcote, Ada Bruce, 
Mary Loyst, Elaine Horne
Oatmeal Cookies -Florence Davern, Ruby Brooks
Apple Pie - Eleanor Hudson, Helen Hoare, Betty Heathcote, Eleanor Reid, 
Helen Storey, Dora Gallagher
Homemade Candy - Elaine Horne, Harriet Head, Clara Brown, Ada Tuckett, 
Nellie Gallagher

Sewing
Clothes Pin Apron - Jeane Hogeboom, Hazel Walker
Handkerchief - Edna Cranston
Wash Cloth - Mary Loyst, Gladys Kilgannon, Jeane Hogeboom, Ruth Hudson, 
Evelyn Ackerman, Edna Galt
Guest Towel - Margaret Wright, Florence Morrow, Jeane Hogeboom, Edna 
Cranston, Gladys Lloyd

Writing
'The Dandelion' - M. Wright, Irene Ruttan, Edith Fitchett, Laura Sills, Betty 
Heathcote, Bernice Laveck
'The Shepherd Boy' - Betty Allison, Genevieve Tibbutt, Clara Brown, Gladys 
Lloyd, George Day, George Scott
'Indian Summer' - Harold Laveck, Wayne Bygott, Helen Trumpour, Victor 
Brooks, Kathleen Lloyd, Laura Punchard
'The Star' - Evelyn Ackerman, Francis Allison, Margaret Allen, Geneva 
Wartman, Edna Ruttan, Percy Wellington
'The Wind' - Doris Wilson, Doris Baldwin, Ruby Tuckett, Helen Laveck, Dorothy
Magee, Beryl Cousins

Drawing
Map of Canada - E. Fitchett, Stewart Loyst, Irene Ruttan, Harold Allison, Ruth 
Campbell, Florence Morrow
Watercolor Poster - George Day, Dorothy Sills, George Scott, Gladys Lloyd, 
Ruth Hudgins, Ward Allison
Drawing of Cat - Anna Sills, Peggy Heathcote, Jack Roblin, Mary Loyst, 
Morley Peters, E. Magee
Drawing of Pumpkin - Francis Allison, Margaret Allen, Patricia Sills, Evelyn 
Ackerman, Edna Ruttan, Gladys Kilgannon

Contests
Stock Judging Contest - Ralph Fretts, Ralph Schell, Dave Reid, Jimmie Mack
Stock Naming Contest - Arthur Whitfield, Edna Cranston, Dave Reid, Bertie 
Rombough, Kathleen Laveck
Vegetable Judging Contest - Dena Cranston, Betty Heathcote, Donald 
Hough, Bernice Laveck, Bertie Rombough, Arthur Whitfield
Public Speaking Contest - Betty Heathcote, Ruth Hudson, Fred Brooks, 
Kathleen Laveck
School Chorus – S.S. #4 [Parma], S.S. #3 Ad. [Third Concession], S.S. #2 Ad.
[Dorland], S.S. #2 S.F. [Sandhurst]
Strathcona Exercises – S.S. #4 S.F. [Parma], S.S. #3 Ad. [Third Concession]
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From the Kitchen     Jane Lovell

It  seemed appropriate to feature a coffee cake to compliment the articles in this issue about Daly
coffee.   A search  for  such  a  recipe  lead  to  A Taste  of  Adolphustown,  a  community  recipe  book

published  in  1983 as  part  of  the  fundraising  efforts  for  1984
bicentennial  commemorations  of  the  landing  of  the  United
Empire Loyalists at Adolphustown.  Containing over 400 recipes
contributed by dozens of women and several men and children
of the community, the collection also included short history notes
and baking tips along with recipes and remedies from the 1881
Canadian Cook Book and other  pioneer  cookbooks.   Scenes
illustrating  the  history  of  Adolphustown,  sketched  by  Ruth
Brooks and Shirley Miller, also grace the book.

Most contributors were identified as, say, “Grace Daverne (Mrs.
Richard)”.   Incidentally,  Grace's  Date  and  Nut  Loaf,  our
inaugural  recipe  in  this  column,  did  not  make  it  into  the
cookbook.   Grace submitted several recipes, as did her mother-
in-law “Elva Daverne (Mrs. George)”,  and her daughter-in-law
“Jutta Daverne (Mrs. Gerald)”.    

Several recipes were attributed to “Amelia Allison (Mrs. David
W.)”.   Amelia,  née  Membery,  was  a  lifelong  resident  of
Adolphustown. Her husband, David Wright Allison, represented
the  county  federally  for  several  years  and  was  a  successful
farmer and businessman.   In 1876, the Allison family built the
house currently used as a museum and research centre in the
UEL Park.   Amelia lived there until her death in 1940.

In addition to recipes for  dandelion wine
and  two  other  cake  recipes,  Amelia's
recipe  for  Scotch  Cake appears  in  the
cookbook.   Unfortunately,  a transcription
error meant that the eggs mentioned in the
instructions  were  missing  from  the
ingredient list.  Also, because this is an old
recipe, no oven temperature was given.   

Some sleuthing into basic cake science revealed that this
cake is likely a version of a pound cake.  “Pound” in “pound
cake”  does not  indicate  the final  weight  of  the  cake,  but
rather the weight of all four base ingredients (butter, sugar,
flour, and eggs).  And the number of large eggs in a pound
of eggs?  Seven and a half!  The recipe reproduced here
halves the quantities in Amelia's recipe and lists ingredients
by volume instead of by weight.  The modern result gives a
hint of why the original, baked in kitchen of Allison House a
century  ago,  was  selected  in  1983  to  accompany  other
family favourites from throughout Adolphustown township.

If you have a recipe you are willing to share please send it to  jane.lovell@kos.net.
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Scotch Cake
Cream together:
 ¾  cup butter
 1 cup sugar

Beat in:
 4 eggs
 zest and juice of half a lemon
 ¼ cup whiskey

Sift in:
 1½  cup flour

Add: 
 1½ cup raisins

Pour into in a greased loaf pan and
bake at 300°F for 1 ½ hours.

Makes 1 loaf.

In the 2021 version of Amelia's Scotch Cake
I used currents instead of raisins.
The result:  Tangy, moist, and rich!

mailto:jane.lovell@kos.net
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From the Book Shelf
Two Centuries in Parma

Donald Hough

TWO  CENTURIES  IN  PARMA  covers  the  ownership  of  the  lots  on
Concession 2, Additional, from the Crown Grant to the owner as of 2004,
and includes genealogical information and history on the families who live
there.   Names  include  Haight,  Brooks,  Mallory,  Allison,  Young,  Wagar,
Ruttan, Lloyd, Powell,  Garrison, Grooms, Stratton, White, Box and many,
many more. The book has 101 pages, 2 maps and 41 pictures.

The Society periodically publishes books reflecting our local history.  Our catalogue now contains
fifteen titles. 

See our website (http://www.sfredheritage.on.ca/Books.htm) for a full list, 
along with a brief description of each book.

A Curious Thing      Angela Cronk

This is a cookie dough press.  The end of the
metal cylinder has a cutout through which the
dough is pressed.  The shape of the cutout
determines the shape of the cookie.  This is
what mine looks like.

         What is this?

This thing is about 18” high.

Please  contact  angelacronk@gmail.com if  you  recognize  the  item.
Tell us what it is called, what it is used for, during what era it was used,
and anything else known about it. 

Do you have some weird thing hanging around your home
or barn?  Take a photo of it and send it in – we can feature

it here in a future issue.
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April's Curious Thing

Submitted by Angela Cronk

mailto:Angelacronk@gmail.com
http://www.sfredheritage.on.ca/Books.htm
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From the Attic
We are looking for old photos and documents from Adolphustown, North and South Fredericksburgh.
Just  about  any  old  photograph  would  be  of  interest:  photos  of  people,  homes,  farms,  schools,
churches, or community or family events.  Even if you do not know the people or places in the photos,
maybe  someone  else  in  the  community  does.   Old  publications  relating  to  township  businesses,
schools and churches often contain fascinating details of life in their era. 

Some items we are currently looking for:

OLD PHOTOS or Real Photo POSTCARDS:

 The Adolphustown Town Hall
 The South Fredericksburgh Town Hall at Sillsville
 The U.E.L. Cheese Factory, Adolphustown
 St. Paul's Church, Main Street Adolphustown
 The Old Store at Adolphustown
 The Old Hotel at Adolphustown
 Conway Store
 Conway Wharf
 Phippen Cheese Factory
 Fredericksburgh Train Station
 McDowall Presbyterian Church
 Camp Le Nid
 Glen Island
 Tarry Hall

CORRESPONDENCE:

 Letters or postcards bearing postmarks from local towns and villages
 Correspondence from someone serving overseas during either WWI or WWII

BOOKLET:

 Constitution and Roll of Officers and Members of Camp Le Nid, 1902

If you are looking for any specific photos or documents, let us know and we will add it to our “Attic” list. 
Newly added items will be highlighted in blue!
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Contribute to 
The Neighbourhood Messenger

We publish The Neighbourhood Messenger several times a year.  If you have
an old photograph or newspaper clipping to share, a story to tell, or an event
to publicize, let us know.  Please send submissions to jane.lovell@kos.net  .

Contributors to this issue:

Angela Cronk
Jane Lovell
Steve Medd

Susan Wright

mailto:jane.lovell@kos.net
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